# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2007-KA-02253-COA

JOHN GALES

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

John Gales, Appellant;

David C. Vanderburg Esq., trial attorney;

Roslyn N. Griffin, Brian K. Harris, Leslie S. Lee, and Phillip W. Broadhead,

Esqs., Attorneys for the Appellant, Criminal Appeals Clinic, University of Mississippi

School of Law;

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING IRRELEVANT AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY REGARDING THE OPERATION OF METHAMPHETAMINE LABORATORIES GENERALLY, THEREBY VIOLATING HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL PURSUANT TO THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 3, SECTIONS 14 AND 26 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI.

### **ISSUE TWO:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE WAS SUCH THAT THE APPELLANT SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN CONVICTED BY A REASONABLE, FAIR-MINDED JURY OF CONSPIRACY TO POSSESS AND CONSTRUCTIVE POSSESSION OF A PRECURSOR.

#### ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROOF BY ESTABLISHING BY LEGALLY COMPETENT EVIDENCE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT EACH AND EVERY ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE INDICTED OFFENSES OF CONSPIRACY TO POSSESS AND CONSTRUCTIVE POSSESSION OF A PRECURSOR.

#### **ISSUE FOUR:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO CORRECTLY APPLY MISSISSIPPI RULE OF EVIDENCE 609, INCLUDING CONDUCTING AN ON-THE-RECORD BALANCING TEST AND/OR GIVING A LIMITING INSTRUCTION WHEN THE TRIAL COURT ALLOWED THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR CRIMINAL HISTORY CONCERNING POSSESSION AND CONSPIRACY IN DRUG-RELATED CONVICTION DURING THE STATE'S CASE AND THEIR CLOSING ARGUMENT.

## STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

John Gales is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2007).

## STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

This case is very fact-intensive and the Appellant, through counsel, would respectfully request this Court to grant oral argument to point out conflicts in the rulings of the trial court based on the evidence and testimony presented at trial that are alleged to be erroneous.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alleged, but uncorroborated, "confessions" supposedly made by the Appellant herein, tenuous circumstantial evidence, and the erroneous admittance of extremely prejudicial and

highly inflammatory evidence constitutes the State's entire proof in this case. It is the classic "he said, he said" drama, where police officers say the Appellant confessed to purchasing pseudoephedrine pills to sell to a methamphetamine cook. (T. II. 149) Mr. Gales has consistently maintained his innocence to these charges as an unsuspecting victim of a conniving woman who lured him from his house under the pretext of payment of one hundred dollars to drive her in her own car to meet what she assured him was her wayward boyfriend at a Mississippi casino. (T. II. 265)

John Gales, the Appellant, (hereinafter, "Mr. Gales") lived in Des Arc, Arkansas. On July 25, 2005, Denise Horn (hereinafter, "Horn") visited Mr. Gales at his mother's home. *Id.* She offered him one hundred dollars to drive her to a casino in Tunica, Mississippi to catch up with her drug-dealing boyfriend. She said that she did not like to drive in traffic, so Mr. Gales agreed to drive her car to meet her boyfriend. Before leaving Arkansas, Mr. Gales warned Horn he did not want any part of any illegal behavior, and told her that he was not going to go if she had anything criminal planned. (T. II. 272) She assured him that she did not, and the two set out for Mississippi in her car.

While in route to the casino, Horn asked Mr. Gales to stop at the Walgreens in the city of Horn Lake, Mississippi. (T. III. 276, 284) She had told him she had cancer and needed to pick up her medication. *Id.* at 276. Mr. Gales agreed to stop, however, he began to grow suspicious after Horn returned empty-handed with varying excuses as to why the pharmacy was out of her medicine. (T. III. 281) Next, he drove her to another Walgreens. However,

Horn then told Mr. Gales it would be an hour and a half before the medicine could be ready. *Id.* Reluctantly, he drove her to a third Walgreens. *Id.* This time, Horn exited the store with a small bag. Mr. Gales thought nothing of it, until he noticed police lights behind him. Immediately, Horn began furtively moving around in her seat and stuffing things from the bag down her clothes. (T. II. 266)

Unbeknownst to Horn, the Walgreens pharmacist had called the police to report the suspicious purchase of "Wal-phed" by a blond woman, but no word of a male was mentioned by the clerk. (T. I. 130) Mr. Gales immediately pulled over for the blue lights, stopped the car, and he got out, wanting to quickly find out the problem and return home. (T. I. 270) The officer asked Mr. Gales to return to the car, and he complied with the request. The police officer approached the car and asked him for his license. Additionally, he agreed to a body search as well as a search of the car, as he had nothing to hide. (T. II. 272)

It is at this point that stories in this case begin to diverge in a very significant way. The police officers who arrested Mr. Gales claim he gave them several statements after his arrest. Police Officer Riggs (hereinafter, "Riggs"), the first officer on the scene, testified that he observed Horn holding white pills in her hand and standing awkwardly outside of her car with more pills hidden in her clothes. (T. II. 145) Accordingly, he searched the rest of Horn's car and found more pills scattered throughout the passenger side of the car where she was seated. Riggs testified at trial that he immediately read Horn and Mr. Gales their *Miranda* rights, and that both had told him they understood. (T. II. 146) According to Riggs,

Mr. Gales told him Horn was his "girlfriend," the two were in Mississippi to purchase Pseudoephedrine pills for a methamphetamine maker, and that they would receive the drug in exchange for the pills. (T. II. 149) Narcotics detective Shawn May (hereinafter, "May") testified to similar statements supposedly made by Mr. Gales, although neither police officers obtained written *Miranda* forms, nor in any way recorded these alleged statements. *Id.* However, according to the sworn testimony of Mr. Gales, neither of these conversations ever occurred. (T. III. 280) The only statement that is recorded in this case came from Denise Horn's confession: "I came today to Mississippi to buy Wal-phed to take back to Arkansas to sell someone to make money that needed. Not for the reason to cook them myself" (T. II. 197, 260; *see also*, Exh. S-5, RE. 15), which did not implicate the Appellant in any way.

Police Officer Todd Baggett (hereinafter, "Baggett") transferred Mr. Gales to the station following the incident. Baggett admitted at trial he did not "Mirandize" Mr. Gales, yet he freely admitted asking the Appellant questions about what happened that night. (T. I. 34, 36) Baggett then was allowed to testify Mr. Gales told him he came to Horn Lake to purchase pills and take them back to Arkansas to sell to a methamphetamine cook in exchange for drugs or money. (T. I. 32) Again, Mr. Gales denied this conversation ever took place. (T. III. 280)

Because of this factual predicate, on August 14, 2007, a DeSoto County grand jury returned a two-count indictment against the Appellant and Horn, charging them with the illegal possession of precursors to methamphetamine and also as co-conspirators to the

possession. The Appellant was also charged as a habitual offender under Section 99-19-81 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended.

On August 27, 2007, a motion seeking approval for the mental evaluation of Mr. Gales was filed with the trial court, and the court subsequently approved to mental examination. The evaluation was conducted at the Mississippi State Hospital and the state psychologist found the petitioner competent to stand trial. On December 6, 2007, defense counsel filed a motion to suppress any evidence arising from the law enforcement stop, search, and seizure of the Appellant, a motion to dismiss the indictment as, as well as, a motion to suppress any testimony from law enforcement officers concerning an admission of guilt by the petitioner. (T. I. 6-63) All defense motions were denied by the court. (T. I. 62-63)

Also on December 6, 2007, the trial court granted the State's pre-trial motion to admit evidence of prior convictions over the objection of defense counsel and the State used his prior convictions of "Theft by Receiving" and to "Conspiracy to Possess Drug Paraphernalia With Intent to Manufacture Methamphetamine" in its case and in closing argument. (T. II. 241, 238-244, 321) Later that same day, both the defense and the State submitted proposed jury instructions and the trial began. During the trial, over defense objections, the State also introduced a line of irrelevant and prejudicial testimony regarding the methamphetamine manufacturing process. (T. II. 218-231) Additionally, the State's witness used unnecessary, irrelevant, and inflammatory language such as "crystal alley" to describe the geographical area in which Mr. Gales was found. (T. II. 184-85). Despite continued objections by defense,

this evidence was admitted and considered by the jury. (T. II. 239)

After the State rested, the defense for a directed verdict of acquittal which was denied. (T. II. 244-247) The Appellant testified on his own behalf, putting at issue all of the evidence produced by the prosecution. (T. II. 265-III. 297) The defense also re-called Officer Riggs in order to admit into evidence the written statement of Denise Horn, which she had given to police on the night of her arrest. (T. II 260; Exh. S-5, RE. 15) The trial concluded later that day with the jury finding the petitioner guilty of both counts of the indictment. Sentencing was had on December 12, 2007, and the trial court found that the defendant to be a habitual offender under Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-81 (Supp. 2006) and sentenced the petitioner to five years in count one and in count two, five years to run consecutively with count one. (CP. 76-77, RE. 16-17) After sentencing, the defense filed motions for a J.N.O.V. and for a new trial. (CP. 56-64, RE. 18-25) Both of these motions were denied by the trial court. (CP. 72-73, RE. 26-27) Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, the Appellant timely perfected this appeal to this honorable Court. (CP. 64-65, RE. 28-29)

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The criminal justice system provides that all criminals are presumed innocent until proven guilty, but unfortunately, Mr. Gales was not afforded this guarantee. Immediately after he was pulled over by Officers, Mr. Gales was branded a "repeat offender." Officers

took for granted he was an irresponsible methamphetamine addict who was only in Mississippi to buy drugs to use them in his methamphetamine laboratory. Mr. Gales was not given a fair chance to prove that his life had changed and this "repeat offender" label no longer applied to him. The prosecutor continuously and intentionally presented highly irrelevant and immaterial testimony regarding the illegal operation of drug laboratories and the production of methamphetamine and also used his prior convictions to inflame the bias, passion, and prejudice of the jury. This illicit testimony unfairly inflamed the jury and denied Mr. Gales' his fundamental right to a fair trial.

By admitting, over defense objection, highly prejudicial, immaterial, and irrelevant evidence regarding the operation of methamphetamine laboratories the jury was improperly persuaded to convict Mr. Gales of conspiracy and constructive possession. Regardless of the fact that the only uncontested, documented evidence against him was purely circumstantial. Despite the copious testimony concerning the operation of methamphetamine laboratories, Mr. Gales was not charged with operating a drug laboratory or the manufacture methamphetamine. This testimony presented by the State served no purpose other than to prejudice the jury against Mr. Gales. Accordingly, it violated Mr. Gales constitutionally guaranteed right to a fair trial.

Mr. Gales was found guilty on both charged counts on a weight of evidence that could only be described as "underwhelming," following a trial replete with many errors. The lack of any substantial evidence leads to the conclusion that the jury was improperly influenced

by the testimony mentioned above and improperly found Mr. Gales guilty on a basis of anemic evidence lacking the weight to affirm such convictions. The evidence presented by the prosecution was also legally insufficient to even make out a *prima facie* case of possession of precursors as charged in the indictment in this case.

To compound the prejudice created by the prosecution in this case, the State of Mississippi was allowed by the trial judge to enter orders of prior convictions from the "pen pack" into evidence, over defense objection, concerning the prior criminal record of the Appellant, one of which was for "Conspiracy to Possess Drug Paraphernalia With Intent to Manufacture Methamphetamine." The Appellant respectfully contends that this was an abuse of discretion of the trial court to allow documents of what had to have appeared to the jury as substantive proof of guilt to the current charges under the old "he did it once, he'll do it again" illusion.

The Appellant herein was found guilty after a trial flawed with so many fundamental errors and based on a weight and legal sufficiency of evidence that did not rise to the level established by the Constitution's requirement that all citizens accused of crimes must be proven guilty by credible evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. The vast majority of the evidence pointed to the fact that the pills were purchased by Denise Horn, as most of them were found on her, the rest of the pills were found on the passenger side of the car where she was riding, and all the pills were recovered from Horn's vehicle. Therefore, for the above reasons, this honorable Court should reverse and render this case, thereby discharging the

Appellant from custody, or, in the alternative, reverse and remand this case for a new trial on the merits of the case, with proper instructions to the lower court.

## ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING IRRELEVANT AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY REGARDING THE OPERATION OF METHAMPHETAMINE LABORATORIES GENERALLY, THEREBY VIOLATING HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL PURSUANT TO THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 3, SECTIONS 14 AND 26 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI.

This case is one of inaccurate assumptions made by the police, the prosecution, and ultimately the Appellant's jury in finding him guilty of conspiracy and possession of precursors, which the facts gathered on the street and the evidence presented in the courtroom simply did not prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. What is clear from this case is that when the trial judge allowed the State's police witness to testify in excruciating detail about how the drug methamphetamine is illegally manufactured, the jury was so poisoned by this "expert" testimony to the point of convicting a man who was simply driving a car belonging to the person who was actually and exclusively guilty of this crime.

Mr. Gales was charged with conspiracy to commit a crime and possession of precursors as a habitual offender. He was never charged with manufacturing methamphetamine, nevertheless, argument, evidence, and testimony of methamphetamine laboratories and the production of methamphetamine was continuously mentioned throughout

the jury selection process, the opening statements, and the trial. The Appellant contends that the trial court erred by admitting evidence regarding the production of methamphetamine over defense objection (T. II. 225-26, RE. 30-31), despite the fact the testimony was not relevant to the issues in the case or in any way material to the charges with which Mr. Gales was indicted by the grand jury.

A. The trial court abused its discretion by failing to try the case based on the merits, instead choosing to allow highly inflammatory and prejudicial testimony that did nothing more than confuse, inflame and prejudice the jury with "expert" testimony regarding the "day-to-day" operation of methamphetamine laboratories.

Ultimate discretion rests with the trial judge when deciding whether or not to admit evidence. Jones v. State, 912 So. 2d 501, 504. See also, Church of God Pentecostal, Inc. v. Freewill Pentecostal Church of God, Inc., 716 So. 2d 200, 210 (¶36) (Miss. 1998). However, a trial court can be reversed upon a finding of abuse of discretion. Id. The trial court in this case clearly abused its discretion by admitting a totally irrelevant line of testimony concerning the method of production of illegal drugs. This testimony severely prejudiced the jury against Mr. Gales, by unfairly painting him as a "drug addict," and served only to deprive the Appellant of a fundamentally fair trial pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 3, Sections 14 and 26 of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi.

The Mississippi Rules of Evidence is clear and concise concerning the necessity of proof being relevant to the issues in the case as the only evidence admissible at trial:

"Relevant Evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the

existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.

#### Miss. R. Evid. 401.

Since the testimony regarding methamphetamine production had no "tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence," it was clearly not relevant to the case and should have been excluded. Because the said testimony did not directly or indirectly concern the indicted offenses of conspiracy or the actual or constructive possession of precursors to methamphetamine, it served no purpose other than to inflame the jury and subtlety attack Mr. Gales' character.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has consistently applied the rule of relevancy in criminal trials concerning attempts by the prosecution to present proof of uncharged conduct by repeatedly holding:

It is well settled in this state that proof of a crime distinct from that alleged in an indictment is not admissible against an accused. There are certain recognized exceptions to the rule. Proof of another crime is admissible where the offense charged and that offered to be proved are so connected as to constitute one transaction, where it is necessary to identify the defendant, where it is material to prove motive, and there is an apparent relation or connection between the act proposed to be proved and that charged, where the accusation involves a series of criminal acts which must be proved to make out the offense, or where it is necessary to prove scienter or guilty knowledge.

McGowen v. State, 859 So. 2d 320 (¶32) (Miss. 2003) (citations omitted).

The evidence in question in the case at bar is testimony from Southaven Police Officer Kyle Hodge, an "expert" witness (T. II. 225-26) who was called by the State solely for the purpose

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