### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**JOHN GALES** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-2253

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In order to prove the elements of possession of a precursor for the purpose of manufacturing methamphetamine, the State was required to prove that Gales knew or should of

known that the pseudoephedrine was essential to the manufacture of methamphetamine and a description of the process was a necessary part of that proof. In <u>Burchfield v. State</u>, 892 So.2d 191 (Miss, 2004), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that the process of manufacture of methamphetamine was relevant and indeed necessary to the State's proof in a trial for possession of a precursor for the manufacture of methamphetamine. This issue is without merit.

The trial court correctly overruled Gale's motions for new trial and JNOV. Evidence of Gale's prior conviction for conspiracy to possess drug paraphernalia with intent to manufacture methamphetamine was introduced during the prosecution's case-in-chief and was correctly admitted by the trial court pursuant to M.R.E. Rule 404(b) to show knowledge and intent. The evidence was not introduced by way of impeachment and the requirements of M.R.E. Rule 609 are not implicated. This issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing expert testimony regarding the manufacture of methamphetamine and to explain the ingredients and steps necessary to produce the drug.

Gales was charged with possession of precursors to the manufacture of methamphetamine with knowledge that the precursors would be used for that purpose. Therefore, one of the elements necessary for the State to prove against Gales was that he knew or reasonably should have known that the pseudoephedrine would be used to manufacture a controlled substance.

Testimony regarding the use of pseudoephedrine in the manufacture of methamphetamine was essential to proving the State's case. The State had to prove that Gales knew what such a

quantity pseudoephedrine was needed to manufacture methamphetamine and that it indeed would be used for that purpose.

In the case sub judice, the State offered Sergeant Kyle Hodge as an expert in the field of clandestine laboratories and methamphetamine. (Tr. 221) After a thorough voir dire examination, and hearing no objection from the defense, the Trial Court qualified Sergeant Hodge as an expert witness. (Tr. 225) The prosecutor asked Sergeant Hodge to "take us from start to finish on how you actually – what ingredients are actually needed for methamphetamine?" Sergeant Hodge then began to detail the four-step process of the manufacture of methamphetamine and the materials and ingredients necessary in the process. (Tr. 225) After Hodge completed the description of the first stage of the manufacturing process, the defense lodged a continuing objection as to relevancy to the Gales since he was not charged as a "cook." (Tr. 226) The trial court overruled the objection, noting that the charge of possession of a precursor chemical where one reasonable should know that the chemicals would be used to manufacture a controlled substance required proof that the defendant knew or reasonably should know that the pills would be used in the unlawful manufacture of a controlled substance, methamphetamine. (Tr. 226) Sergeant Hodge then continued his testimony describing the manufacture of methamphetamine and testified that pseudoephedrine is essential to the process. (Tr. 229)

Burchfield v. State, 892 So.2d 191 (Miss, 2004) is directly on point. In Burchfield, an officer was called as an expert to testify about the manufacture of methamphetamine and to explain the ingredients and steps necessary to produce the drug. <u>Id. at 195</u>. Burchfield claimed that this testimony was prejudicial because he was not on trial for manufacturing

methamphetamine. Burchfield's counsel argued in a pretrial motion that the testimony was not probative. The prosecutor argued that the expert witness would be called to explain to the jury exactly how methamphetamine is manufactured and specifically the role of pseudoephedrine, which is the primary agent. <u>Id. at 195</u>. Defense counsel took the position that since Burchfield had not been charged with the manufacture of drugs, that any testimony about the manufacturing process would be unnecessary and would unfairly prejudice him. <u>Id. at 195</u>.

In *Burchfield* The Mississippi Supreme Court held:

However, one of the elements necessary for the State to prove against Burchfield was that he knew or should have known, that the ephedrine would be used to manufacture a controlled substance. Officer Cox was properly qualified to provide the testimony. Furthermore, he went no further than was necessary to demonstrate a link between the pseudoephedrine found in the car, Burchfield's statement that he intended to sell the pills, and the manufacture of a controlled substance. This assignment of error has no merit.

In order to prove the elements of possession of a precursor for the purpose of manufacturing methamphetamine, the State was required to prove that Gales knew or should of known that the pseudoephedrine was essential to the manufacture of methamphetamine and a description of the process was a necessary part of that proof.

Gales' counsel argues that Hodge's testimony unfairly painted Gales as a "drug addict" and deprived him of a fundamentally fair trial pursuant to the fourteenth amendment.

(Appellant's Brief, p. 11) However, this evidence shows that pseudoephedrine is used in the manufacture of methamphetamine and that Gales had knowledge of that use. The testimony does not in any way go to Gales purported use of methamphetamine. Further, Gales repeatedly describes himself as an addict during his own testimony. It is difficult to see how this testimony

regarding the manufacturing process paints Gales as an addict and it is difficult to see how it prejudices him when he so freely admits his addiction in his own case in chief.

Appellant's Brief cites <u>McGowen v. State</u>, 859 So.2d 320 (Miss. 2003) and <u>Tudor v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 299 So.2d 682 (Miss. 1974) for the proposition that Hodge's testimony was not admissible as proof of a crime distinct from that alleged in an indictment. However, the testimony in the case *sub judice* was not offered as proof that Gales committed another crime, rather it was offered to show that the pseudoephedrine he possessed was used in the manufacture of methamphetamine and that he had knowledge of that use. These cases are clearly inapplicable to the facts of the instant case.

As discussed above, <u>Burchfield v. State</u>, 892 So.2d 191 (Miss. 2004) is directly on point and the Supreme Court held therein that testimony of the process of manufacture of methamphetamine using pseudoephedrine was admissible since one of the elements necessary for the State to prove was that Burchfield knew or should have known that the pseudoephedrine would be used to manufacture a controlled substance. The Court in Burchfield further held that the officer was properly qualified to provide the testimony. This issue is without merit and the trial court should be affirmed.

#### II. The Trial Court correctly denied Gales' Motion for New Trial.

Gales alleges that the trial court erred in denying his motion for new trial. A motion for new trial challenges the weight of the evidence. <u>Sheffield v. State</u>, 749 So.2d 123, 127 (Miss. 1999). Reversal by an appellate court is proper only when the trial court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. <u>Id.</u> In reviewing a challenge to the weight of the evidence, the appellate court sits as a limited thirteenth juror, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable

to the verdict. <u>Bush v. State</u>, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005). The reviewing court will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable justice. <u>Id.</u>

A motion for a new trial is based on the weight of the evidence and will be disturbed only when the verdict "is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." <u>Bush</u>, 895 So.2d at 844. When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial, the reviewing court must take the evidence in a light most favorable to the verdict. <u>Id</u>. Such a motion is within the discretion of the court, "which should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Amiker v. Drugs for Less, Inc.</u>, 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss.2000)).

In this case, the jury had before it evidence clearly showing Gales' constructive possession of pseudoephedrine with the knowledge that it would be used for the manufacture of methamphetamine. Officer Riggs' testimony establishes that Gales was driving Horn from store to store to purchase pseudoephedrine. Gales and Horn both took note of Riggs entering the parking lot as they were pulling out. Gales and Horn were both moving in the front seat of the car, Gales leaning in toward Horn as Officer Riggs followed them out onto the highway. After Riggs pulled them over, Gales got out of the car before Riggs could approach the vehicle, while Horn continued to appear to be reaching something in front of her on the passenger side. From this testimony, the jury could reasonably infer that Gales and Horn were attempting to hide something when they saw a police car approaching. When they were stopped, Gales attempted to stall the officer by getting out first, so that Horn could finish the job of hiding the contraband. Despite Gales' argument that he did not know Horn had the pseudoephedrine and that he did not

possess it because it was on the passenger side of the vehicle, Horn's actions immediately prior to and at the time of the stop lead to the inference that Horn was fully aware of the contraband and was attempting to hide it. The jury could reasonably infer that he was therefor in possession of the contraband and conspiring with Horn to purchase the pseudoephedrine.

Further, Gales confessed to three separate officers that he and Horn were purchasing pseudoephedrine to take to a methamphetamine cook to exchange for drugs or money. Gales was driving because he did not have a driver's license or identification required to make the purchase. During cross examination the state, Gales testified that he was an addict and that addicts try to get close to the meth cooks so that they can get cheaper and better quality drugs. Horn also gave a statement that the pseudoephedrine was purchased for a meth cook who would give them drugs or money in exchange. It was for the jury to weight the credibility of the witnesses and the jury clearly found the testimony of the officers regarding Gales' statements at the time of the stop to be more credible than Gales' denials at trial.

Therefore, the verdict was not overwhelmingly against the weight of the evidence and the trial court properly denied the post-trial motions and the trial court's judgment of conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

III. The Trial Court correctly denied Gales' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the

Verdict as the prosecution proved beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the crimes

with which Gales was charged.

A Motion for JNOV implicates the sufficiency of the evidence. *Sheffield v. State*, 749 So.2d 123, 125 (Miss. 1999) The standard of review is well settled:

We must, with respect to each element of the offense, consider all

of the evidence - not just the evidence which supports the case for the prosecution - in the light most favorable to the verdict. The credible evidence which is consistent with the guilt must be accepted as true. The prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Matters regarding the weight and credibility to be accorded the evidence are to be resolved by the jury. We may reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such the reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty.

Id. (quoting Gleeton v. State, 716 So.2d 1083, 1087 (Miss. 1998)).

Gales' argument on appeal is based on the fact that the pseudoephedrine was not actually found on him. About 20 of the 307 pills were found in the car on the passenger floor board, the passenger seat and two blister packs were found between the passenger seat and the passenger door. The rest of the pills were found on Horn, in her hands or in a bag stuffed in the front of her pants. Gales contends that the evidence points only to Horn, not to him.

In reviewing a trial court's denial of a motion for a directed verdict or a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the reviewing court must look at the sufficiency of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss.2005). The court must ask whether the evidence shows "beyond a reasonable doubt that [the] accused committed the act charged and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test[,] it is insufficient to support a conviction." *Id.* at 843 (quoting *Carr v. State*, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss.1968)). Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, the question is whether a rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Bush*, 895 So.2d at 844 (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)).

The statute prohibiting the unlawful possession of precursor chemicals is found at Mississippi Code Annotated section 41-29-313(2)(c)(i) (Rev.2005), and provides:

[I]t is unlawful for any person to purchase, possess, transfer or distribute two hundred fifty dosage units or fifteen (15) grams in weight . . . of pseudoephedrine or ephedrine, knowing, or under circumstances where one should reasonably know that the pseudoephedrine or ephedrine will be used to unlawfully manufacture a controlled substance.

The State is required to prove each element of the indicted offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Hobson v. State*, 730 So.2d 20, 28 (Miss.1998). In reviewing the evidence, an appellate court will accept as true the evidence that supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. *Dudley v. State*, 719 So.2d 180, 182 (Miss.1998); *Smith v. State*, 868 So.2d 1048, 1050 (Miss.Ct.App.2004). It is the responsibility of the jury to weigh and consider the conflicting evidence and evaluate the credibility of witnesses and determine which testimony is to be believed. *Williams v. State*, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

In this case, the jury had before it evidence clearly showing Gales' constructive possession of pseudoephedrine with the knowledge that it would be used for the manufacture of methamphetamine. Officer Riggs' testimony establishes that Gales was driving Horn from store to store to purchase pseudoephedrine. Gales and Horn both took note of Riggs entering the parking lot as they were pulling out. Gales and Horn were both moving in the front seat of the car, Gales leaning in toward Horn as Officer Riggs followed them out onto the highway. After Riggs pulled them over, Gales got out of the car before Riggs could approach the vehicle, while Horn continued to appear to be reaching something in front of her on the passenger side. From this testimony, the jury could reasonably infer that Gales and Horn were attempting to hide

something when they saw a police car approaching. When they were stopped, Gales attempted to stall the officer by getting out first, so that Horn could finish the job of hiding the contraband.

Despite Gales argument that he did not know Horn had the pseudoephedrine and that he did not possess it because it was on the passenger side of the vehicle, Horn's actions immediately prior to and at the time of the stop lead to the inference that Horn was fully aware of the contraband and was attempting to hide it. He was therefor in possession of the contraband and conspiring with Horn to purchase the pseudoephedrine.

Further, Gales confessed to three separate officers that he and Horn were purchasing pseudoephedrine to take to a methamphetamine cook to exchange for drugs or money. Gales was driving because he did not have a driver's license or identification required to make the purchase. During cross examination the state, Gales testified that he was an addict and that addicts try to get close to the meth cooks so that they can get cheaper and better quality drugs. Horn also gave a statement that the pseudoephedrine was purchased for a meth cook who would give them drugs or money in exchange.

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